ALASKA STATE LEG SLATURE
SENATE EDUCATI ON STANDI NG COW TTEE
February 16, 2016
3:32 p.m

VEMBERS PRESENT

Senator M ke Dunl eavy, Chair
Senator Charlie Huggins, Vice Chair
Senator Cathy G essel

Senator Gary Stevens

Senat or Berta Gardner

MEMBERS ABSENT
Al'l nmenbers present
COW TTEE CALENDAR
SENATE BI LL NO 174
"An Act relating to the regulation of firearnms and knives by the
University of Al aska."
- HEARD & HELD
PREVI QUS COMM TTEE ACTI ON
BILL: SB 174

SHORT TITLE: REG OF FI REARVS/ KNI VES BY UNI'V. OF AK
SPONSOR(s): SENATOR(s) KELLY

02/ 08/ 16 (S) READ THE FIRST TIME - REFERRALS
02/ 08/ 16 (S) EDC, JUD
02/ 16/ 16 (S) EDC AT 1:30 PM BUTROVI CH 205

W TNESS REG STER

SENATOR PETE KELLY

Al aska State Legislature

Juneau, Al aska

POSI TI ON STATEMENT: Sponsor of SB 174.

JOE BYRNES, Staff

Senator Pete Kelly

Al aska State Legislature

Juneau, Al aska

PCSI TI ON STATEMENT: Presented i nformati on on SB 174.

SENATE EDC COWM TTEE -1- February 16, 2016



JI M JOHNSEN, President

University of Al aska

Fai r banks, Al aska

POSI TI ON STATEMENT: Testified in opposition to SB 174.

SCOTT OGEN, representing hinself
Pal mer, Al aska
POSI TI ON STATEMENT: Testified in favor of SB 174.

LILY POTH ER, Student
Uni versity of Al aska- Sout heast

Juneau, Al aska
PCSI TI ON STATEMENT: Testified in opposition to SB 174.

ZHENI A PETERSON, St udent

Uni versity of Al aska- Anchorage

Anchor age, Al aska

POSI TI ON STATEMENT: Testified in opposition to SB 174.

SAMANTHA SAVAGE, Student
Uni versity of Al aska-Sout heast, Juneau Al aska
PCSI TI ON STATEMENT: Testified in opposition to SB 174.

ACTI ON NARRATI VE

3:32:16 PM

CHAIR MKE DUNLEAVY <called the Senate Education Standing
Commttee neeting to order at 3:32 p.m Present at the call to
order were Senators Huggins, Gessel, Gardner, Stevens, and
Chai r Dunl eavy.

SB 174- REG OF FI REARMS/ KNI VES BY UNI V. OF AK

3:33: 05 PM
CHAI R DUNLEAVY announced the consi deration of SB 174.

SENATOR PETE KELLY, Al aska State Legislature, sponsor of SB 174,
related that the reason behind the bill is the escalating
i nci dence of nmass shootings and the prohibiting of guns in gun-
free areas making many public institutions soft targets for
people with serious nental problens and terrorists to act. He
referred to exanples of gun laws that were ineffective. He said
the University Board of Regents has made the University of
Al aska canmpuses gun free. He mintained that shooters are
targeting such places. He pointed out that people have a
constitutional right to keep and bear arns.

SENATE EDC COWM TTEE - 2- February 16, 2016



3:35:52 PM

JOE BYRNES, Staff, Senator Pete Kelly, Alaska State Legislature,
presented information on SB 174. He comented that the
constitution says, "The right to keep and bear arns shall not be
denied or infringed by the state or political subdivision of the
state.”

SENATOR KELLY said the Board of Regent s, a political
subdi vision, has infringed upon that right. He agreed that the
Board of Regents has sone duty to provide security on canpus.
The bill allows the board to regulate the possession of firearns
in certain circunstances and beyond certain points. The bill
prevents the board from posting signs stating that guns are
forbidden on canpus. He referred to the theater shooting
incident in Colorado as an exanple of how shooters target places
where guns are not all owed.

SENATOR KELLY said the bill is sinple, but controversial, and
the people of Al aska have said they wsh to, and have a right
to, carry conceal ed weapons. Not allowing this right on Al aska
canpuses is putting students in danger. He noted there are 150
canpuses in the U S. that have all owed concealed carry without a
si ngl e incidence.

3:38: 58 PM
SENATOR HUGGE NS asked if SB 174 is the sanme as Senator Coghill's
previous bill.

SENATOR KELLY said it is simlar with some changes.

3:40: 00 PM
MR. BYRNES read fromthe sectional analysis of the bill:

Section 1

It is the findings and intent of the legislature that the right
to bear arnms is constitutionally protected under Art. 1, Sec. 19
of the Al aska Constitution, that the University O Al aska Board
O Regents nmmy not abridge that right, and the legislature
reserves to the state the authority to regulate firearnmns.

Section 2

Amends AS 14.40 (The University of Alaska and the Comunity
Col l eges statutes) affirmng the authority to regulate firearns
and knives is reserved to the state and except as provided by
statute, the Board of Regents may not regulate firearns and
kni ves.

SENATE EDC COWM TTEE - 3- February 16, 2016



The Board of Regents may adopt and enforce policies regulating
the open carry of firearnms and knives, restricting the
di scharge, and prohibiting the possession in restricted access
areas: on l|land where there is a reasonable likelihood that
people, animals, or property will be in jeopardy, and in an area
beyond a secure point where visitors are screened.

The University is prohibited from creating a database or
regi stry of persons who possess firearns on canpus.

The University is also imune fromcivil liability for policies
enforced under this section.

Section 3
The Board of Regents have 30 days after the effective date to
adopt conform ng policies.

3:42: 05 PM
SENATOR STEVENS asked for an explanation of the immunity cl ause.

MR. BYRNES referred to a nmeno from |legal services. He said it
woul d hel p prevent frivolous |awsuits against the university for
enacting policies conform ng to Al aska statutes.

SENATOR STEVENS gave an exanple of a shooting on canmpus where
students were killed and the parents filed a lawsuit. He asked
if the university was |iable.

3:43:14 PM
SENATOR KELLY thought the bill would not change anything in
current law. He offered to provide a copy of the | egal opinion.

MR. BYRNES suggest ed asking | egal services that question.

CHAI R DUNLEAVY asked if open carry is currently allowed on
canpus.

SENATOR KELLY said the university is currently able to regulate
open carry and the bill does not change that.

CHAI R DUNLEAVY said that decision is nade by the regents.
JOE BYRNES clarified that SB 174 says that the university may
adopt policies that would restrict the open carrying of firearns

and knives. They nust not adopt policies that would restrict
conceal ed carry.

SENATE EDC COW TTEE -4- February 16, 2016



3:45: 03 PM
REPRESENTATI VE GARDNER asked what the current process is for
getting a concealed carry permt.

MR. BYRNES stated that a concealed carry permt would not be
required under SB 174. Concealed carry pernmts are offered by
the Departnent of Public Safety. The process involves a fee,
training, fingerprinting, and a background check.

SENATOR GARDNER asked when a conceal ed carry permt is required

SENATOR KELLY said anyone 18 and ol der can carry conceal ed. The
person nust be 21 or older and go through a process to obtain a
conceal ed carry permt.

3:46: 44 PM
SENATOR GARDNER asked why anyone woul d get a permt.

SENATOR KELLY said it could aid in getting a background check.

CHAI R DUNLEAVY added that there nmay be reciprocal agreenents
wi th ot her states.

3:.47: 24 PM

SENATOR HUGGE NS said the National Instant Crimnal Background
Check System (NICS) serves as a background check for purchasing
firearms. He provided an exanples of a student who had hunting
guns on canpus in his car and a student who has a gun in the
dorm room He asked what current rules the wuniversity has
regardi ng those exanpl es.

MR. BYRNES said current university policy requires that the guns
be locked up in the vehicle or in storage. The canpus has pl aces
to |l ock them up

SENATOR KELLY suggested | ooking at the regul ations proposed by
the university regarding open carry in dorns.

3:49:28 PM

SENATOR GARDNER asked if there are limtations on concealed
carry other than on federal property and in K-12 schools and
pre-school s.

MR. BURNES said there are areas in Alaska where people cannot

conceal carry a weapon: in a person's hone wthout their
perm ssion, where alcohol is served for on-site consunption,

SENATE EDC COWM TTEE - 5- February 16, 2016



except in restaurants, in or around K-12 schools or on a schoo
bus, except with the consent of an admnistrator, in or around a
child care facility, in a court house or in justice related
entities, and in a domestic violence or sexual assault shelter.

SENATOR GARDNER asked if there are any limtations based on
characteristics of an individual, such as donestic violence
convictions or threats to persons.

SENATOR KELLY said those restrictions happen during the court
case; a conviction for donestic violence, a felony, forbids
access to firearns.

MR. BYRNES said those individuals would fail the background
check.

CHAI R DUNLEAVY said it prevents |egal access to firearns.

SENATOR GARDNER inquired if a person who has been charged many
times, but never convicted of donestic violence, would have
restrictions to conceal ed carry.

SENATOR KELLY did not think so.
CHAI R DUNLEAVY said that should be checked out.

3:52:21 PM
SENATOR G ESSEL asked why this bill is needed other than for
constitutional rights and to prevent shooti ngs.

SENATOR KELLY thought those alone were conpelling reasons to
have the bill. There are situations where concealed carry stops
bad guys with guns, but they do not get reported. There is
evidence that those who carry stop shooters. He |isted places
where people were killed by shooters who targeted easy places.
Since 1958, all but two public mass shootings have been in areas
where conceal ed carry was not all owed.

3:55:12 PM
SENATOR G ESSEL said her interest is providing protection for
young wonen who I|ive on canmpus by allowing them to carry

conceal ed. She asked if there is any data on that type of issue.

3:55: 54 PM

MR. BYRNES referred to a study that points to inproved outcones
for victinms that have weapons. He noted |aw enforcenent cones
"after the fact."

SENATE EDC COWM TTEE - 6- February 16, 2016



3:56:47 PM

CHAI R DUNLEAVY sunmmarized that currently guns are allowed on
canmpus under specific circunmstances. He asked how many shootings
have been commtted on Al aska canpuses.

MR. BYRNES offered to find out. He said he does have data on
crinmes commtted on canpus.

CHAI R DUNLEAVY said currently guns are allowed if they are
| ocked up. He wanted to know the statistics about the nunber of
guns and the nunmber of nurders on canpus. He stated that the
bill does not crimnalize concealed carry on canpus. He asked
what the current penalties are for conceal ed carry on canpus.

MR. BYRNES replied that according to regent's policy, students
who have a weapon are subject to admnistrative sanctions. He
t hought the person with a weapon would be asked to | eave canpus
and could be given a no trespassing sanction.

CHAI R DUNLEAVY gave an exanple of a teacher who kicks a student
out of a class for having a gun in his bag. He noted guns are
allowed on canpus in certain circunmstances. He thought the
university could provide the answer as to what would happen to
t hat student.

4:00: 38 PM

SENATOR KELLY referred to Umpqua Comunity College shooting
where the Oregon State Suprenme Court had determ ned students
could carry on canpus; however, the student handbook said they
couldn't because the Board of Regents had ignored the | aw

CHAI R DUNLEAVY noted that there are students who carry conceal ed
on canpus now and their concern is over ramfications by the
uni versity.

4:02: 14 PM

SENATOR GARDNER referred to a docunment where the university
lists the nunber of offenses at each canpus over three years

She related that the Anchorage canpus has the nost problens and
nost are liquor law violations, a little drug abuse, and several
sexual assaults, alnost all in the dorns.

SENATOR G ESSEL i nquired about page 2, lines 5 and 6, regarding

regul ating possession. She asked if it is the intent that
i ndividuals would be required to have a concealed carry card

SENATE EDC COWM TTEE -7- February 16, 2016



after taking a course that enphasized the responsibility of
conceal ed carry.

SENATOR KELLY said no. It is up to the legislature to decide
when and how a student could conceal carry.

CHAI R DUNLEAVY said under SB 174 rifles would still need to be
|l ocked in cars or |ock boxes.

4:04: 36 PM

SENATOR GARDNER asked, since the wuniversity is considered a
political subdivision of the state like the state capital, by
what authority is the capital able to be weapons-free.

SENATOR KELLY explained that it is state law. This bill does not
address that.

SENATOR GARDNER comented that there is a statute that says you
can prohibit guns in the state capital building.

CHAI R DUNLEAVY asked if Senator Gardner w shed to make an
amendnent .

SENATOR GARDNER sai d no. She wondered, "If what was good for the
goose, was good for the gander." She asked about having sporting
events, public speaker events, or conference venues being gun-
free due to the tendency toward ire-produci ng at nospheres.

4:06:36 PM
CHAI R DUNLEAVY opened public testinony.

JIM JOHNSEN, President, University of Alaska, testified in
opposition to SB 174. He recognized that the issue is not
whet her the wuniversity is for or against guns in the broader
community. The university firearnms regulations don't extend into
the coomunity at large, they apply only university canpuses and
to situations and people for which the university is uniquely
responsi ble. The wuniversity nust intervene daily in conflicts
and nmanage how students and enpl oyees interact with each ot her.

DR JOHNSEN said he believes the bill would prevent the
university and the regents from managing specific and known
problenms. As a result, the university request anmendnents in five
speci fic areas: when student behavior indicates a risk of harm
to thenselves or others; in student dormtories or other shared
living quarters, in K-12 prograns on canpus, in health

counseling, discrimnation, harassnment, and Title [|X offices,

SENATE EDC COWM TTEE - 8- February 16, 2016



and in adjudication of staf f or student di sput es, or
disciplinary issues. He stressed that these areas require
regul ation and parallel restrictions found in crimnal |aw. They
woul d all ow the university to act before sonethi ng happens.

4:10: 53 PM

DR. JOHNSEN further addressed each of the proposed anendnents.
For behavior indicating risk or harm under SB 174, a student or
enpl oyee who exhibits depression, suicidal gestures, overt
hostility or aggression, nust be allowed his or her weapon. The
"Report to the NRA" by the National School Shield Task Force
recommends that schools act pronptly to behavior that indicates
a risk. Suicide is the second |eading cause of death for
Anerican college students. Alaska's suicide rate is nearly tw ce
the national average and is the leading cause of death for
people ages 15 to 24. Suicide attenpts involving firearns are
al nost always fatal. The canpus actively works on these issues.

DR. JOHNSEN spoke to the second suggested anmendnent regarding
dormtories or other shared student housing. The university is
responsi ble for students' wellbeing and staff nonitors students
in their living quarters. Under the bill, the student advisors
and resident assistants would have to deal with students who nay
or may not be arnmed and intoxicated. Half of resident students
are under 21 and may not legally carry concealed weapons and
don't necessarily get to <choose their roommates. Allow ng
current university regulation would be consistent with crimna
law age |imts on concealed carry, alcohol restrictions on
possession of firearns, as well as requirenments for adult
resident consent to concealed carry in a residence. He said he
would not rely on crimnal |aw alone to manage a residential
school

DR. JOHNSEN addressed proposed Anendnment 3 - dedicated prograns
for K-12 students, which are run year round and especially
during the summer. Allowing UA regulation would be consistent
with existing state |aw governing K-12 grounds, buildings, and
events. They would also allow UA to neet the standard of care
suggested by those | aws.

He explained that proposed Anendnent 4 relates to places of
counseling services or other services for sexual harassnent or
vi ol ence. SB 174 would require the university to allow
di sgruntled or stressed out parties to bring conceal ed weapons
to investigative or other neetings and to places where victins
are seeking services. Allowing the university to regulate that

SENATE EDC COWM TTEE - 9- February 16, 2016



woul d parallel state |aw that nakes possession of a firearm on
the grounds of a donestic violence shelter a crine.

DR. JOHNSEN expl ai ned pr oposed Amendmrent 5 regar di ng
adjudication of staff or student disputes. He said during
adj udi cation of disputes or disciplinary issues, the bill would
require the university to allow potentially conbative and highly
stressed students and enpl oyees to carry a conceal ed weapon to a
gri evance hearing or adj udi cation hearing. Allowing the
university to regulate that would be nore consistent wth
current state |law that makes possession of a firearmin a court
facility a crinme.

He concl uded wi thout these changes UA will not be able to manage
these foreseeable, high conflict, high risk situations that
occur on canmpus daily. He believed that responding after a crine
has occurred is not sufficient; |legislators, parents, and
students expect nore. He stressed that regulations in these
ci rcunstances has value and UA's policies allow them to take
preventative action. The university does not believe the bill is
necessary given the restricted environnent to which university
rul es are applicable.

The university's regulations are in the category of restrictions
on weapons in governnent buildings and schools, recognized by
the courts and legislature as sensitive places where the
regulation of firearns is presunptively lawful and outside the
scope of constitutional protection. He stated that UA canpuses
are very simlar to ~circunstances in which Alaska |aw
crimnalizes weapons possession. He said if the bill goes
forward the university respectfully requests changes be made to
protect the Board of Regents and the university adm nistration
and to allow them to govern the university as constitutionally
mandat ed.

4:16:57 PM

SENATOR KELLY said the denial of constitutional rights is what
the bill is trying to address. He agreed with four out of the
five recomendations the wuniversity pointed out - there are

pl aces "you don't bring your gun." He noted it is also inportant
to have the Board of Regents not putting a "wet blanket” on this
constitutional right.

4:18: 26 PM

SENATOR STEVENS asked which provision Senator Kelly does not
agree with it.

SENATE EDC COW TTEE -10- February 16, 2016



SENATOR KELLY opi ned that parents should be allowed to have guns
at university K-12 prograns.

4:20:22 PM
CHAI R DUNLEAVY asked whether disturbed students are currently
prohi bited fromhaving a gun in the trunk of their car.

DR. JOHNSEN offered to get back to the commttee on that.

SENATOR STEVENS asked if there would be a need for nore police
protection if SB 174 were to pass.

DR. JOHNSEN replied that there would be a need to expand
security and add a police force to the canpus in Southeast
Al aska and in thirteen other canpuses, at significant cost.

4.:22:21 PM

SENATOR GARDNER asked about UA's ability to manage high risk
situations. She asked what Dr. Johnsen neant about protecting
the Board of Regent nenbers. She requested an enmil response.

SENATOR HUGAE NS spoke of the need for additional security. He
said many people could qualify to volunteer to be security on
canpus.

4:24:07 PM

SCOTT OCGEN, representing hinself, testified in favor of SB 174.
He shared his experience of wshing he could have carried a
weapon when he worked in the Atwood Building. He agreed that
shooters frequent no-carry zones. He spoke in support of
reasonabl e regul ati ons on canpus.

4:26:50 PM

LILY POTH ER, Student, University of Al aska-Southeast, testified
in opposition to SB 174. She maintained that the bill directly
affects students' sense of security. She said conceal ed carry on
canpus affects safety in areas other than just mass shootings

such as violent situations on college canpuses. She suggested
that differentials in powers would arise from having conceal ed
weapons on canmpus and this could affect relationships between
students, and staff and students. The change that happens in a
public space is not positive when people are allowed to carry
weapons. People feel less confortable with other people, not
safe or full of well-being. If the goal is to increase canpus
safety, a solution is to have arned guards, not arned students.
She concluded there should be a registry and screening process
for people with guns on canpus.

SENATE EDC COW TTEE -11- February 16, 2016



4:30: 35 PM

ZHENI A PETERSON, St udent , University of Al aska- Anchor age,
testified in opposition to SB 174. She said allow ng students to
carry conceal ed guns on canpus would increase injury and death

She spoke of her experience living on canpus and said mnors and
ol der students abuse alcohol. It would be dangerous for students
who use al cohol to have guns. The living quarters are very close
and it could be dangerous to have students wth concealed
weapons who have not been screened.

4:32: 54 PM

SAMANTHA  SAVAGE, St udent , University of Al aska- Sout heast,
testified in opposition to SB 174. She pointed out that suicide
the second | eadi ng cause of death anong college students and is
a mgjor crisis in Alaska. Many studi es have shown that access to
firearms and al cohol are risk factors for suicide. She shared
her experience on canmpus with suicides related to firearns. She
spoke in support of the university's efforts to protect their
st udent s.

CHAI R DUNLEAVY |eft public testinony open and held SB 174 in
conmi ttee.

4:34: 25 PM

There being no further business to conme before the committee
Chair Dunl eavy adjourned the Senate Education Conmttee at 4:34
p. m

SENATE EDC COW TTEE -12- February 16, 2016



